# CABINET

**MINUTES** of the Meeting held in the Council Chamber, - Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT on Wednesday, 11 July 2018 from 7.00pm - 8.20pm.

**PRESENT**: Councillors Mike Cosgrove, Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Alan Horton, Gerry Lewin (Vice-Chairman, in-the-Chair) and David Simmons.

**OFFICERS PRESENT:** Anne Adams, Tracey Beattie, Philippa Davies, Patricia Narebor, Donna Price, Mark Radford, Nick Vickers, Rebecca Walker and Steve Wilcock.

**ALSO IN ATTENDANCE**: Councillors Monique Bonney, Mike Henderson and John Wright.

APOLOGIES: Councillors Sarah Aldridge and Bowles.

### 104 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chairman drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure.

### 105 MINUTES

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 30 May 2018 (Minute Nos. 29 - 41) were taken as read, approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

### 106 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No interests were declared.

# PART B MINUTES FOR DECISION BY CABINET

### 107 SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL STRATEGIC AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN

### **Cabinet Member for Environment and Rural Affairs**

Cabinet considered the report of the Mid Kent Environmental Health Manager and the above Cabinet Member which provided an update on progress made on the Swale Borough Council Strategic Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) 2018-2022.

The Cabinet Member advised that the report was part of the 'journey' of the AQAP and it identified data that had been collected. A more substantial report would be issued in Autumn 2018.

The Mid Kent Environmental Health Manager explained that air quality was a very important issue for Swale Borough Council (SBC), and officers had been working hard on the Action Plan. She drew attention to Appendix I which set-out a summary

### - 107 -

Published on Monday 16 July 2018 Subject to call-in, Part B Decisions to be effective from Tuesday 24 July 2018 of the findings. She added that it was important to include traffic flow data that was likely to be generated with the addition of housing, as set-out within the Local Plan.

In response to a question regarding NOx emissions, and the lack of information on particulates, the Environmental Protection Team Leader explained that there was no evidence of any exceedance of particulates in the Borough, whereas there was exceedance of NOx emissions. The Member also asked for further information on how the consultation, on a very specialised, technical subject was to be carried out. The Cabinet Member explained that consultation would be carried on each of the five AQAPs in the Borough, and it was hoped to combine all five into one strategic plan.

Discussion ensued and the following points were raised: there was a link between air quality and health conditions; welcomed the report; the Council had a duty to ensure pollution issues did not worsen; it was critical that base-line figures were accurate when looking at emission predictions to enable good quality data; new developments needed to be taken into consideration; there needed to be an evidence base on everything the Council carried out in relation to pollution; quality data was critical; and would like to see more funding and urgency going forward.

In response, the Cabinet Member acknowledged the limited legal powers the Council had, and the importance of not making the issues worse and to, in fact, ensure that matters were improved. He agreed to provide a written response on evidence in support of the figures noted for the Newington Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). The Cabinet Member welcomed the long list of comments received from the Policy Development and Review Committee (PDRC), and confirmed that, where possible, a majority of these would be taken 'on board' by the Council. The Environmental Team Leader further explained that the consultants had based their conclusion on the evidence they had so far. Additional traffic data would be available in the next few weeks, and this would give a more accurate view of the traffic modelling.

# Resolved:

(1) That the report be noted.

# 108 CABINET'S RESPONSE TO RECOMMENDATIONS OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE'S REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

### **Cabinet Member for Planning**

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Planning Services and the above Cabinet Member which set-out the Cabinet responses to the Scrutiny Committee recommendations following the Development Management Review.

# Resolved:

# (1) That the report be noted.

# 109 USE OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING COMMUTED SUM

# Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities

Cabinet considered the report of the Strategic Housing and Health Manager and the above Cabinet Member, which set out the option of a £180,000 commuted sum to Optivo Housing Association, towards the cost of delivering affordable housing on two Council-owned sites.

The Cabinet Member referred to paragraphs 1.1 and 2.3 in the report and explained that there was no spend-by date for the money, and there was very little opportunity to do anything else with the two sites, as adjacent land was owned by Optivo.

A Member welcomed the report, and another Member asked the Cabinet Member how he arrived at the figures set out in paragraph 3.2 of the report. The Cabinet Member responded by saying that this was what the Council and Optivo had thought was the optimum arrangement to get the best use of the money. The Strategic Housing and Health Manager explained that the detail had been provided by Optivo, and it was double-checked with them, that they could deliver this amount of housing.

A Member considered the report did not include the full facts of the overall transaction between the Council and Optivo. The Cabinet Member explained the process that had taken place, as noted in the report, and looked forward to the scheme going forward.

### Resolved:

(1) That the allocation of £180,000 commuted sum to Optivo Housing Association towards the costs of delivering affordable housing on two Council owned sites at Evergreen Close, Iwade and Colegates Close, Oare be approved.

# 110 REACTIVE AND PLANNED TERM MAINTENANCE CONTRACT - AWARD OF CONTRACT

### **Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance**

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Property Services and the above Cabinet Member, which sought approval from Cabinet to delegate the decision to award the contract for Planned and Reactive Term Maintenance to the Head of Property Services in Consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance and the Chief Financial Officer.

The Cabinet Member explained that the current contract expired at the end of September 2018, and the next contract would commence on 1 October 2018.

### Resolved:

# (1) That the decision to award the contract for Planned and Reactive Term Maintenance from 1 October 2018 for an initial period of three years be

delegated to the Head of Property Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance and the Chief Financial Officer.

### 111 SWALE ECONOMIC REGENERATION FRAMEWORK

### Cabinet Member for Regeneration

Cabinet considered the report of the Economy and Community Services Manager and the above Cabinet Member which set-out the revised draft of a new Economic Regeneration Framework for adoption.

The Cabinet Member acknowledged the input that the PDRC had made to the Framework at their meeting on 10 May 2018.

Discussion ensued and the following points were made: further work was needed on the 'Enhance Skills' section; reference needed to be made to Further Education facilities in other parts of the Borough, not just Sittingbourne; work needed to be done with employers and apprentice providers to drive the development of apprenticeships; regeneration of the three town centres should be included throughout the document; the Sittingbourne Hub needed to be included in the Foreword; and the document needed to be more consistent in its wording.

The Cabinet Member responded by stating that all three town centres, plus the rural areas, were included in the Introduction. He added that consideration of apprenticeship options *had* been included within the document.

### Resolved:

# (1) That the revised Swale Economic Regeneration Framework 2018-2021 be adopted.

### 112 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT - OUTTURN 2017/18

### **Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance**

Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Financial Officer and the above Cabinet Member which set out the revenue and capital outturn position for 2017/18.

The Cabinet Member drew attention to a small amendment on page 101 of the report. He explained that the £92,100 listed as a capital rollover request, should be revenue rollover from the revenue reserves. The Cabinet Member congratulated the Finance Team on their recent 'Team of the Year' award.

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities welcomed the above amendment, and also noted that the limited amount of borrowing for the Sittingbourne Town Centre Project had been managed well, which he considered indicated that the strategy was working.

Discussion ensued and the following points were made: welcomed the proposed improvements to Oare Gunpowder Works, but £8,000 was not enough; hoped that Faversham Swimming Pool would benefit from funding assistance, as part of the

£50,000 rolled-over for leisure centres; needed to get the balance right between setting the budget and underspends; and the Sittingbourne Town Centre Regeneration Scheme appeared to be getting more expensive than was expected

The Cabinet Member responded by stating that it was always the case that some areas would make savings, whilst others overspent. He considered the budget setting to be correct, and explained that officers looked for savings without effecting the quality of service. He noted the comments regarding Faversham Swimming Pool.

The Chief Financial Officer reminded Members that in terms of the Sittingbourne Town Centre Regeneration Scheme , the contract with the Spirit of Sittingbourne was a fixed sum.

The Chief Financial Officer, Financial Services Manager and the Finance Team were thanked for the work they had carried out.

# Resolved:

(1) That the gross revenue underspend on services of £829,000 be noted.

(2) That the revenue service rollovers of £571,660 and the setting up of new reserves as set out in Table 3 in Appendix I be approved.

(3) That the revenue service bids of £288,060, as set out in Table 4 in Appendix I be approved.

(4) That the Performance Fund and the Regeneration Fund be topped up by £300,000 each, and the Communities Fund by £75,000, from the General Fund and the Business Rates Volatility Reserve (for Regeneration Fund and Communities Fund).

(5) That the allocation of uncommitted underspend to reserve funds be delegated to the Chief Financial Officer.

(6) That the capital expenditure of £11,491,000, as detailed in paragraph 8 and Table 8 in Appendix I be noted.

(7) That the capital rollovers of £2,027,970, as detailed in Table 8 in Appendix I be approved.

# 113 17/17A STATION STREET, SITTINGBOURNE - OPTIONS FOR FUTURE USE

# Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance and Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Property Services and the above Cabinet Members which set-out the options for the future of 17/17a Station Street, Sittingbourne.

Discussion ensued and the following points were made: needed to know the value of the site; this proposal would result in a negative impact on Station Street, with the regeneration improvements being so close; a regeneration plan was needed for the whole town centre; the proposal limited future options on Station Street; and it did not fit in with the street scene.

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities clarified that the report was not actually making the final decision on the property, but would be getting consultants to look at the feasibility of the scheme. He advised that further details on the financial side of the scheme were not necessary at this stage.

# Resolved:

(1) That the proposal to take forward the option to convert 17/17a Station Street, Sittingbourne to temporary homeless accommodation be approved, with a further report to Cabinet prior to the allocation of funding and award of contract.

### 114 STAYING PUT CONTRACTOR FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

### **Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities**

Cabinet considered the report which sought approval to extend the existing Staying Put Contractor Framework Agreement for a period of two years from 1 October 2018 until 30 September 2020.

The Cabinet Member explained that the contract had worked very well, and he welcomed the extension for a further two years, up to September 2020.

### Resolved:

# (1) That the Staying Put Contract Framework Agreement be extended for a period of two years from 1 October 2018 until 30 September 2020.

### 115 MINUTES OF THE SWALE JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD MEETING HELD ON 25 JUNE 2018

Cabinet considered the recommendations from the Swale Joint Transportation Board meeting held on 25 June 2018.

### Resolved:

### (1) That the recommendations in Minute Nos. 78, 79 and 80 be noted.

### 116 LANDHOLDINGS REVIEW - SALE OF LAND AT OAK ROAD, MURSTON

### **Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance**

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Property Services and the above Cabinet Member which sought approval for the freehold sale to a preferred purchaser of the Council-owned site as a potential building plot.

The Cabinet Member stated that this was an excellent opportunity to sell the site and it was beneficial in many ways.

The Vice-Chairman in-the-Chair drew attention to the exempt paper and the need to exclude the press and public if Members wished to discuss the contents of it.

Discussion ensued including the pros and cons of selling the land with or without planning permission.

# Resolved:

# (1) That the principle to dispose of the freehold of the site to a preferred purchaser be agreed.

(2) That the Head of Property Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance be authorised to finalise the terms and the Head of Legal Services be authorised to complete the necessary legal formalities in due course.

# 117 EXEMPT APPENDIX - LANDHOLDINGS REVIEW - SALE OF LAND AT OAK ROAD, MURSTON

There was no discussion on this item, therefore the resolution to exclude the press and public was not passed.

# <u>Chairman</u>

Copies of this document are available on the Council website http://www.swale.gov.uk/dso/. If you would like hard copies or alternative versions (i.e. large print, audio, different language) we will do our best to accommodate your request please contact Swale Borough Council at Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT or telephone the Customer Service Centre 01795 417850.

All Minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the Committee/Panel